© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved

Treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis* Infections in Pregnant Women

Joseph M. Miller¹ and David H. Martin²

- 1 Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Louisiana State University Medical Center, New Orleans, Louisiana, USA
- 2 Department of Medicine, Louisiana State University Medical Center, New Orleans, Louisiana, USA

Contents

Abstract
1. Obstetric Overview
1.1 General Problem
1.2 Epidemiology
1.3 Diagnosis
1.4 Perinatal Transmission
1.5 Therapeutic Considerations
2. Antibacterial Selection
2.1 Tolerance
2.2 Compliance
2.2.1 Associated Factors
2.2.2 Influence of Pregnancy
3. Efficacy
4. Partner Concerns
5. Cost Effectiveness
6. Conclusion

Abstract

The intent of this article is to provide an overview of the epidemiology and pharmacotherapy, including cost analyses, of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infections in pregnant women. Chlamydia is a common sexually transmitted infection. For pregnant women, there are concerns both for the mother (post-partum endometritis, horizontal transmission) and the newborn (conjunctivitis, delayed pneumonia). Therapeutic options are restricted because of the fetus and include multi-day treatment with erythromycin, amoxicillin, clindamycin or single dose azithromycin. Clinical cure rates with these options are 86, 92, 93 and 95%, respectively.

Pharmacoeconomic analyses have been conducted to determine if the initial increase in acquisition cost of azithromycin (approximately 3-fold higher than erythromycin or amoxicillin) is offset by improvement in compliance and drug efficacy. Clindamycin has received little attention because of its expense (4-fold more than azithromycin). Analyses have been retrospective. As models incorporate more complications of failure to cure, azithromycin increasingly becomes more cost effective and is our recommended treatment.

1. Obstetric Overview

1.1 General Problem

Chlamydia trachomatis is the most common sexually transmitted pathogen and is the most likely to be found in an obstetric population, with 2 to 20% of pregnant women infected.^[1] As a consequence of its high prevalence, C. trachomatis infections result in significant morbidity with concomitant social and economic costs. Left untreated, an affected pregnant patient may (i) pass the organism to her child at delivery, (ii) develop post partum endometritis - salpingitis, [2] (iii) contribute to horizontal spread throughout the community and (iv) experience possible adverse obstetric outcomes such as preterm delivery, low birth weight or premature rupture of the membranes.^[3-6] Non-pregnant women may experience pelvic inflammatory disease $(10 \text{ to } 40\%)^{[7]}$ and its sequelae of infertility and ectopic pregnancy.[8] While not an immediate concern in a pregnant patient, persistent infection beyond the peripartum period may result in any or all these consequences.

1.2 Epidemiology

A major increase in reported chlamydial infection occurred between 1984 (3.2 cases per 100 000) and 1994 (188 cases per 100 000), probably reflecting improved screening and reporting.^[7] Subsequent modest declines after 1994 have been reported, usually in settings where well established screening programs are in place.^[9,10]

Infection occurs most often among younger women, generally those who are sexually active and below the age of 25 years.^[7] Prevalence is higher among those who are unmarried, nulliparous, of lower socio-economic status and have multiple sexual partners or have concurrent *Neisseria gonorrhoea* infection.^[7,11] Recurrent infection also has been found to be associated with similar risk factors.^[12] The mainstay for case-finding during pregnancy is screening. While universal testing may not be appropriate, certainly women with the above mentioned risk factors should be screened.

1.3 Diagnosis

Until recently, culture has been considered the 'gold standard' for the laboratory diagnosis of chlamydial infections. Although more expensive, properly performed cultures are more sensitive than antigen detection by enzyme immunoassay (EIA) and probe detection of chlamydia specific genetic material in clinical specimens.^[13] More recently nucleic acid amplification tests have been developed, including polymerase chain reaction (PCR), ligase chain reaction (LCR) and transcription mediated amplification (TMA). The first two are DNA based whereas the latter is based on ribosomal RNA. All of these systems are more sensitive than culture and have very high specificities.^[14] More recently, nontraditional specimens such as urine have been found to identify infected individuals. Availability of urine-based tests opens up the possibility of widespread population based screening for C. trachomatis as urethral swabs in men and pelvic examinations in women are no longer required.[13]

However, when directly compared, endocervical specimens appear to be modestly more sensitive than urine specimens for the detection of *C. trachomatis* in women.^[15] Therefore, if a woman needs a pelvic examination for other indications, an endocervical specimen would be preferred over a urine specimen. This would apply to most pregnant women.

1.4 Perinatal Transmission

For the obstetrician, perinatal transmission is a significant concern. Vertical transmission of *C. trachomatis* generally occurs during labour and delivery with a frequency varying from 23 to 70%. ^[1,16,17] Prevalence of neonatal conjunctivitis, 11 to 50%, and neonatal pneumonia, 3 to 16%, have been reported among infants exposed at birth. ^[17-19] These complications are easily avoided through screening all high risk pregnant women and treating those infected to prevent unnecessary infectious morbidity in their neonates.

1.5 Therapeutic Considerations

According to the recently published Centers of Disease Control sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines, erythromycin base (500mg orally 4 times daily for 7 days) and amoxicillin (500mg orally 3 times daily for 7 days) are the drugs of choice for treatment of chlamydial infections in pregnant women.^[20] Azithromycin (1g orally as a single dose) is listed as an alternate choice. This latter drug has a long tissue half-life of approximately 3 days^[21] and is the only single dose treatment available. Others recommend sulfamethoxazole during the first and second trimester.^[7] Doxycycline, the most commonly used antibacterial to treat chlamydial infections in men and non-pregnant women is not used in pregnant women. Neither is ofloxacin, the first of the fluoroquinolones found to be effective for chlamydial infection.

Concerns about cost, tolerance, efficacy, compliance, safety to the fetus, partner treatment, possible reinfection and disease sequelae all need to be considered when treating chlamydial infection. These issues are addressed in this review with the goal of enabling practitioners to rationally select treatment options for themselves. This review is based on a Medline search of English language articles from 1966 through February 1999 concerning treatment of *C. trachomatis* in pregnancy. Search words included chlamydia, antibacterial treatment and pregnancy. Additional articles were found among references provided by the papers identified in the computer search.

2. Antibacterial Selection

2.1 Tolerance

Antibacterial tolerance among pregnant women is a significant issue, especially gastrointestinal (GI) adverse effects. Generally these are minor, but may significantly decrease compliance, especially in the first trimester. The incidences of adverse effects for erythromycin base, amoxicillin, clindamycin and azithromycin are summarised in table I. The most prominent adverse effects are gastroin-

Table I. Symptoms reported with antibacterials for treatment of Chlamydia trachomatis

eriiarriyala tracriorriatis		
Antibacterial agent	Gastrointestinal adverse	Reference
	effects (%)	
Amoxicillin	8/93 (9)	22
Erythromycin	13/100 (13)	
Amoxicillin	16/100 (16)	23
Erythromycin	48/99 (49)	
Amoxicillin	5/65 (8)	24
Erythromycin	30/65 (46)	
Amoxicillin	3/55 (6)	25
Erythromycin	13/53 (25)	
Clindamycin	5/52 (10)	
Amoxicillin	5/39 (13)	26
Erythromycin	12/38 (32)	
Clindamycin	4/40 (10)	27
Erythromycin	9/39 (23)	
Azithromycin	5/42 (12)	28
Erythromycin	25/43 (58)	
Azithromycin	0/15 (0)	29
Erythromycin	15/15 (100)	
Azithromycin	4/27 (15)	30
Erythromycin	12/21 (57)	
Azithromycin	NR (17)	31
Erythromycin	NR (45)	
NR = not reported.		

testinal and include nausea, vomiting, abdominal cramps or pain, and diarrhoea. Nongastrointestinal adverse effects, including rash, itching or allergy are generally not reported to occur in more than 4% of treated patients for each reviewed agent.[22-24] GI adverse effects are more common for erythromycin (13 to 100%, mean 37%)[22-30] as detailed in table I and confirmed by a meta-analysis of erythromycin and amoxicillin use in pregnancy.^[32] In one study, 30% of patients taking erythromycin had their doses reduced by half because of intolerance.[29] GI adverse effects for the other 3 drugs were as follows: amoxicillin [22-26] (6 to 16%, mean 11%), clindamycin (10%)^[25,27] and azithromycin (0 to 17%, mean 11%).[28-31] The findings for azithromycin have been confirmed by a large, prospective study of this drug alone, which demonstrated overall adverse effects in 5% of 147 patients.[33] With azithromycin, pregnant women, like non-pregnant patients, experience modest levels of intolerance, which are primarily mild to moderate.[34]

2.2 Compliance

2.2.1 Associated Factors

In general, the failure to complete a course of medication is a greater concern during pregnancy because the consequences of treatment failure affect the fetus and/or infant as well as the mother. One study found that among non-pregnant patients self-reported noncompliance rates (40%) are substantially lower than electronically measured rates (70%).^[35] These rates were determined by using medication bottles with computer chips in the cap which documented the number of times the bottle was opened. Factors associated with noncompliance have been evaluated in obstetric patients.^[36] These include younger age and GI adverse effects.

Noncompliance may also include a delay in or failure to fill a prescription, for a variety of reasons including cost, and perhaps, a reluctance to take pills. In cited trials, the medication has generally been provided so there is no way to estimate the extent of this problem in practice, but it is almost certainly very significant. One study evaluating outpatient therapy for pelvic inflammatory disease found that 28% of patients did not fill their prescription. For this group the most frequent reasons given for not filling the prescription were cost (38%) and feeling better (25%). [37]

Counselling would be appropriate to motivate the patient in all circumstances to ensure compliance, both in filling and taking medication. The quality of the physician–patient relationship is important in improving compliance.^[38]

2.2.2 Influence of Pregnancy

Compliance among pregnant women has been evaluated in numerous prospective comparative studies, as summarised in table II. Completion of erythromycin therapy was recorded for 54 to 89% (mean 80%). [22-25,28,30,31] This is far less than reported for amoxicillin, 85 to 99% (mean 95%), [22-25] clindamycin 92% [25] or azithromycin, 93 to 100% (mean 96%). [28,30,31] In one study, [30] two noncompliant patients assigned to azithromycin failed to participate after randomisation. If they are excluded from analysis, reported compliance for azithromycin would be 99%. This is nearly the 100%

Table II. Compliance of pregnant patients in completing antibacterial therapy

Antibacterial	Completion of therapy (%)	Reference
Amoxicillin	55/65 (85)	24
Erythromycin	47/65 (72)	
Amoxicillin	91/93 (98)	22
Erythromycin	87/100 (87)	
Amoxicillin	99/100 (99)	23
Erythromycin	87/99 (88)	
Amoxicillin	53/55 (96)	25
Erythromycin	47/53 (89)	
Clindamycin	48/52 (92)	
Azithromycin	25/27 (93)	30
Erythromycin	15/21 (71)	
Azithromycin	41/42 (98)	28
Erythromycin	23/43 (54)	
Azithromycin	NR (100)	31
Erythromycin	NR (61)	
NR = not reported.		

compliance for azithromycin one would expect for directly observed therapy,^[7] and the compliance level we found in our clinical trial.^[33]

3. Efficacy

Bacteriological efficacy among pregnant women with C. trachomatis infection has been assessed by means of a test of cure, generally done between 2 and 6 weeks after initiating treatment. Trial results performed in pregnant women are summarised in table III. Erythromycin had a cure rate of 72 to 95% (mean 86%),^[22-30,31,39] clindamycin 90 to 95% (mean 92%),[25,27] amoxicillin, 80 to 100% (mean 93%)[22-26] and azithromycin, 88 to 100% (mean 95%).[28-30,31,39] A published meta-analysis of amoxicillin versus erythromycin found amoxicillin to be more effective.^[32] Other meta-analyses in pregnant women have not been done. However, our experience with azithromycin in an open trial^[33] is comparable with those summarised in table III. Azithromycin would appear to be at least as effective if not slightly more effective than amoxicillin and significantly more effective than erythromycin. Better compliance is the most likely explanation for these results. Data on clindamycin are even more limited, precluding meaningful analysis.

Treatment failure need not reflect only failure to eradicate chlamydia, since reinfection may have

occurred even within the 2- to 6-week interval often used for tests of cure. In our experience, approximately half the failures may have been because of a reinfection. Within the same pregnancy, reinfection in 17% of a high risk population has been documented. Another study, evaluating women with positive tests for chlamydia obtained prior to 20 weeks, found 32% to have a subsequent positive test. Based on these observations, we concur that tests of cure are desirable in pregnant women and that a third trimester test should be considered.

4. Partner Concerns

Successful treatment of *C. trachomatis* infections in pregnant women requires involvement of the sexual partner. Many of the previously mentioned concerns about tolerance and compliance are valid for the partner as well as the patient and perhaps even more so. Unless the medication is

Table III. Therapeutic efficacy of antibacterial treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis* during pregnancy, measured by test of cure

Antibacterial	Bacteriological	Reference
	cure rate (%)	
Amoxicillin	28/34 (80)	26
Erythromycin	27/32 (84)	
Amoxicillin	55/65 (85)	24
Erythromycin	47/65 (72)	
Amoxicillin	100/100 (100)	23
Erythromycin	87/99 (88)	
Amoxicillin	50/55 (91)	25
Erythromycin	45/53 (85)	
Clindamycin	47/52 (90)	
Amoxicillin	63/64 (98)	22
Erythromycin	55/58 (95)	
Clindamycin	38/40 (95)	27
Erythromycin	30/34 (88)	
Azithromycin	21/22 (96)	30
Erythromycin	16/20 (80)	
Azithromycin	15/15 (100)	29
Erythromycin	14/15 (93)	
Azithromycin	NR (91)	31
Erythromycin	NR (77)	
Azithromycin	39/42 (88)	28
Erythromycin	41/43 (93)	
Azithromycin	15/16 (94)	39
Erythromycin	12/15 (80)	
NR = not reported.		

provided free of charge, antibacterial cost may also limit successful partner treatment. Unfortunately, the patient may not inform the partner or the partner may not act on the information concerning infection by seeking treatment. It has been shown that if public health departments can develop an effective partner notification strategy, reductions in reinfection will result.^[43] The alternate strategy, treatment of the partner by giving the woman a prescription to take home for her partner, has also resulted in fewer reinfections, at least in nonpregnant women.[44] In New Orleans, giving women doxycycline to take home to their partners appears to be effective. [45] This will prevent infectious sequelae. Partner education concerning general prevention of sexually transmitted infections through condom use is also advised.

5. Cost Effectiveness

Relative cost effectiveness of different treatment approaches is a significant issue and one that must be addressed. Unfortunately, formal evaluation among pregnant patients has received little attention. Substantial data are available to evaluate cost, including costs of acquisition as well as infectious sequelae. Costs of failed treatment and infectious morbidity of both mother and infant must also be considered. If a public health programme is available for treatment, then costs of treatment must include not only the antibacterial costs, but those of case management and administration which are more difficult to assess.

Sample cost data indicate that the acquisition cost of azithromycin is nearly 3 times more than either amoxicillin or erythromycin in the US, which are approximately the same charge. [46,47] Clindamycin is over 10 times as expensive as amoxicillin or erythromycin. [46] This was confirmed by our own survey in New Orleans (table IV).

Available pharmacoeconomic studies have addressed single dose azithromycin and erythromycin or doxycycline for treating non-pregnant women.^[47-50]

Table IV. Cost of antibacterials for treating chlamydial infection in pregnancy. New Orleans, Louisiana (survey of 4 pharmacy retail price quotes, March 1999)

Antibacterial treatment (duration)	Purchase cost (\$US)	
	average	range
Erythromycin 500mg 4 times daily (7 days)	12.76	10.49-16.69
Amoxicillin 500mg 3 times daily (7 days)	10.88	7.35-13.69
Azithromycin 1g (single dose)	34.23	30.89-38.98
Clindamycin 450mg 4 times daily (14 days)	146.86	84.45-206.94

Studies have generally concluded that azithromycin is a cost-effective strategy.^[50] The increase in compliance of single dose treatment over that of a 7-day course is likely the most important factor in the economic analysis. Moreover, the consequences of infection are not uniformly considered with only a single report including some costs relating to neonatal infectious sequelae.^[48]

The study by Nuovo et al.[47] evaluated erythromycin and azithromycin, (along with antibacterials not used in pregnancy, i.e. tetracycline, doxycycline and ofloxacin) using decision analysis.^[47] Only non-pregnant patients were considered. The authors used published clinical and economic evaluations, in addition to health insurance company or state health reports. The authors concluded that azithromycin was more cost-effective. A significant limitation of this study was the exclusion of late complications of pelvic inflammatory disease, such as infertility, ectopic pregnancy and chronic pelvic pain, and problems subsequent to infection in pregnancy, including neonatal conjunctivitis and pneumonia. Costs of treating sexual partners were also not included. Based on a sensitivity analysis, the authors concluded that a 3% improvement in cure rate for azithromycin over the other evaluated drugs was needed to justify using the more expensive agent.[47]

Haddix et al., [49] also evaluated the relative cost efficacy of azithromycin and doxycycline. Although the latter is not used in pregnancy, the analysis is illuminating. The authors did include in their analysis the cost of tests of cure, which would be

appropriate to any consideration of cost efficacy in pregnant women. They also allowed for differences between a public clinic and a private healthcare system, where the latter incurs expenses of acute pelvic inflammatory disease. These authors used results from the literature for efficacy and compliance. [49] Costs of pelvic inflammatory disease and its sequelae were considered, but perinatal complications were specifically excluded. When only confirmed cases were evaluated, use of azithromycin resulted in substantial savings to the healthcare system. For publicly-funded programmes where the cost of complications are not borne by the programme, azithromycin was more expensive. However, these savings are artificial, as other sections of the healthcare system must absorb the cost.

Another model presented in this article demonstrated increasing savings with azithromycin as compliance with other drugs decreased. [49] Here the authors limited their analysis to direct medical costs only. The consequences of secondary transmission to other sexual partners and influence of maternal-neonatal infection were not considered.

Marra et al,^[50] using assumptions made by Haddix et al,^[49] evaluated the cost effectiveness of doxycycline and azithromycin in non-pregnant women. For confirmed cases, azithromycin achieved lower overall cost. The limitations of this study are the same as the prior report of Haddix et al.^[49]

Magid et al.^[48] also compared azithromycin and doxycycline use in non-pregnant women for treatment of chlamydial infection. Their analysis and assumptions were similar to Haddix et al.^[49] and Marra et al.^[50] However, they did consider the consequences of secondary transmission of infection, adverse events stemming from drug use, and most importantly, sequelae to children born to infected mothers. These authors found cost savings in 1993 of \$US39.56 per patient with the use of azithromycin.^[48] Wholesale drug costs were used in this analysis. As with other studies, the authors developed a sensitivity model which revealed increased savings for the azithromycin strategy as the failure rates for doxycycline increased.

The only paper dealing with cost effectiveness of treatment during pregnancy is by Hueston and Lenhart. [46] They considered 4 antibacterial agents: amoxicillin, erythromycin, clindamycin and azithromycin. Using retail drug costs and cure rates drawn from the literature, a decision analysis was constructed looking at costs which included the cost of retreatment (with a different antibacterial) or recurrent infections. While the authors estimated overall failure rates after retreatment, they did not consider the remote costs of failure to cure. Costs of drug reactions or complications and the subsequent office revisit were also omitted. Antibacterial effectiveness was established from a literature review of treated pregnant women, with the exception of azithromycin. Here, data were drawn from non-pregnant women and the estimated effectiveness was 94%. The least expensive combination was amoxicillin, with erythromycin used for treatment failure. When the costs of improving the cure rate were considered, amoxicillin with azithromycin as second line therapy was the most economic. [46] The actual cost difference between using amoxicillin or azithromycin from Hueston and Lenhart's study^[46] was approximately \$US15 per patient. The incremental costs of amoxicillin with follow-up azithromycin versus the reverse was a difference of less than \$US2 in order to improve the cure rate by 1 per 1000 patients.

No study has considered the potential obstetric problems which have been attributed to chlamydial infection. These include premature rupture of the membranes, preterm delivery or low birth weight. However, the statistics are conflicting. [3-6,51-53] Trials that have reported improvement of pregnancy outcome with treatment have used erythromycin over an extended period of time. However, use of this antibacterial may also influence other vaginal flora. Therefore, reported improvement in pregnancy outcome may reflect more than chlamydial treatment alone. Nevertheless, even a minor benefit in the prevalence of low birth weight would have great economic consequences. Analysis would again favour use of the most effective antibacterial against chlamydia.

6. Conclusion

Based on the available data we believe it is reasonably clear that the best choices for treating chlamydial infections in pregnant women are amoxicillin or azithromycin. Unfortunately, there are no direct comparative studies of these two approaches. In the absence of adequate data, we believe that the optimal choice depends upon the patient. Though the acquisition costs of azithromycin are greater than amoxicillin we feel that the former is a better choice for potentially noncompliant pregnant women such as adolescents.

Amoxicillin must be taken 3 times daily for a week and it is a bacteriostatic drug against chlamydia whereas the macrolide and tetracycline class drugs have bacteriocidal activity. Therefore, compliance may be a much more important issue for the penicillins compared with the other two classes of drug, that is, it may well be that missing 30 to 40% of the doses for one of the bacteriocidal drugs would have a relatively smaller effect than missing a similar number of doses of a bacteriostatic drug. Head-to-head comparisons of the drugs would be necessary in order to prove this hypothesis.

Another factor is that given the higher cost of azithromycin women may be less likely to fill their prescriptions. Therefore, in order to exploit the compliance advantage of azithromycin it should be administered by directly observed therapy, which would require that the healthcare provider either supply the medication or ask patients to obtain it from the pharmacy and then return to the clinic for treatment. Obviously, the latter is less efficient, but in our experience is feasible. Amoxicillin is a reasonable choice for the patient who is deemed to be likely to comply with treatment. If amoxicillin is to be provided or prescribed, we believe it is critically important that patients be adequately counselled concerning the necessity of taking the entire course of medication. A hidden cost here is the extra time required of the provider to provide this counselling.

Clearly, comparative trials of amoxicillin versus azithromycin in different patient populations would

be very useful in determining the best approach to treating chlamydial infections during pregnancy.

References

- McGregor JA, French JI. Chlamydia trachomatis infection during pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1991; 164: 1782-9
- Wager GP, Martin DH, Koutsky L, et al. Puerperal infectious morbidity: relationship to route of delivery and to antepartal *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1980; 138: 1028-33
- Martin DH, Koutsky L, Eschenbach DA, et al. Prematurity and perinatal mortality in pregnancies complicated by maternal Chlamydial trachomatis infections. JAMA 1982; 247: 1585-8
- Ryan GM, Abdella TN, McNeelley SG, et al. Chlamydia trachomatis infection in pregnancy and effects of treatment outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1990; 162: 34-9
- Gravett MG, Nelson HP, DeRouen T, et al. Independent association of bacterial vaginosis and *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection with adverse pregnancy outcome. JAMA 1986; 256: 1899-903
- Martin DH, Eschenbach DA, Cotch MF, et al. Double-blind placebo-controlled treatment trial of *Chlamydia trachomatis* endocervical infections in pregnant women. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol 1997; 5: 10-17
- Marra CA, Patrick DM, Reynolds R, et al. Chlamydia trachomatis in adolescents and adults. Pharmacoeconomics 1998; 13: 191-222
- Thompson SE, Washington AE. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Epidemiol Rev 1983; 5: 96-123
- Crowley T, Horner PJ, Nelki J. Screening associated with reduced infection rates. BMJ 1994; 308: 716-7
- Garland S, Gertis D, McInnes J. Genital Chlamydia trachomatis infection in Australia. Med J Aust 1993; 159: 60-6
- Orr P, Sherman E, Blanchard J, et al. Epidemiology of infection due to *Chlamydia trachomatis* in Manitoba, Canada. Clin Infect Dis 1994; 19 (5): 876-83
- Hillis SD, Nakashima A, Marchbanks PA, et al. Risk factors for recurrent *Chlamydia trachomatis* infections in women. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994; 170: 801-6
- Black CM. Current methods of laboratory diagnosis of Chlamydia trachomatis infections. Clin Microbiol Rev 1997; 10: 160-84
- Marrazzo JM, Stamm WE. New approaches to the diagnosis, treatment and prevention of chlamydial infection. Curr Clin Top Infect Dis 1998; 18: 37-59
- Schachter J. Diagnosis of human chlamydial infections. In: Stephens SR, Byrne AI, Christinnson A, et al., editors. Chlamydial infections. Proceedings of the Ninth International Symposium on Human Chlamydial Infection; 1988: San Francisco (CA), 557-86
- Judson FN. Assessing the number of genital chlamydial infections in the United States. J Reprod Med 1985; 30: 269-72
- Heggie A, Lumicao GG, Stuart LA, et al. Chlamydia trachomatis infection in mothers and infant: a prospective study. Am J Dis Child 1981; 135: 507-11
- Schlachter J, Grossman M, Sweet RL, et al. Prospective study of perinatal transmission of *Chlamydia trachomatis*. JAMA 1986; 255: 3374-7

- Alexander ER, Harrison HR. Role of Chlamydia trachomatis in perinatal infection. Rev Infant Dis 1983; 5: 713-9
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. 1998 guidelines for treatment of sexually transmitted diseases. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 1998; 47: 53-6
- Jones RB. New treatments for Chlamydia trachomatis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1991; 164: 1789-93
- Crombleholme WR, Schlachter J, Grossman M, et al. Amoxicillin therapy for *Chlamydia trachomatis* in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1990: 75: 752-6
- Alary M, Joly JR, Moutquin JM, et al. Randomized comparison of amoxicillin and erythromycin in the treatment of genital chlamydial infection in pregnancy. Lancet 1994; 344: 1461-5
- Magat AH, Alger LS, Nagey DA, et al. Double-blind randomized study comparing amoxicillin and erythromycin for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis* in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1993; 81: 745-9
- Turrentine MA, Troyer L, Gonik B. Randomized prospective study comparing erythromycin, amoxicillin and clindamycin for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis* in pregnancy. J Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol 1995; 2: 205-9
- Silverman NS, Sullivan M, Hochman M, et al. A randomized, prospective trial comparing amoxicillin and erythromycin for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis* in pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994; 170: 829-32
- Alger LS, Lovchik JC. Comparative efficacy of clindamycin versus erythromycin in eradication of antenatal *Chlamydia* trachomatis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1991; 165: 375-81
- Adair CD, Gunter M, Stoval TG, et al. *Chlamydia* in pregnancy: a randomized trial of azithromycin and erythromycin. Obstet Gynecol 1998; 91: 165-8
- Bush MR, Rosa C. Azithromycin and erythromycin in the treatment of cervical chlamydial infection during pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1994; 84: 61-3
- Wehbeh HA, Ruggeirio RM, Shahem S, et al. Single-dose azithromycin for Chlamydia in pregnant women. J Reprod Med 1998; 43 (6): 509-14
- Rosenn M, Macones GA, Silverman N. A randomized trial of erythromycin and azithromycin for the treatment of chlamydia infection in pregnancy [abstract]. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996; 174: 410
- Turrentine MA, Newton ER. Amoxicillin or erythromycin for the treatment of antenatal chlamydial infection: a metaanalysis. Obstet Gynecol 1995; 86: 1021-5
- Miller Jr JM. Efficacy and tolerance of single-dose azithromycin for treatment of chlamydial cervicitis during pregnancy. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol 1995; 3: 189-92
- 34. Lea AP, Lamb HM. Azithromycin: a pharmacoeconomic review of its use as a single-dose regimen in the treatment of uncomplicated urogenital *Chlamydia trachomatis* infections in women. Clin Pharmacokinet 1997; 12: 596-611
- Bachmann LH, Stephens J, Richey CM, et al. Measured versus self-reported compliance with doxycycline therapy for Chlamydia associated with syndromes [abstract]. 26th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy: 1996 Sep 15-18: New Orleans (LA), 256
- Katz BP, Zwickl BW, Caine MA, et al. Compliance with antibiotic therapy for *Chlamydia trachomatis* and *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae. Sex Transm Dis 1992; 19: 351-4

- Brookhoff D. Compliance with doxycycline therapy for outpatient treatment of pelvic inflammatory disease. South Med J 1994; 87: 1088-91
- Genc M, Mordh P-A. Cost-effective treatment of uncompleted gonorrhea including co-infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Pharmacoeconomics 1997; 12: 374-83
- Edwards M, Rainwater K, Carter S, et al. Comparison of azithromycin and erythromycin for *chlamydia* cervicitis in pregnancy [abstract]. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994; 170: 419
- Miller Jr JM. Recurrent chlamydial colonization during pregnancy. Am J Perinatol 1998; 15: 307-9
- Allaire AD, Huddleston JF, Graves WL, et al. Initial and repeat screening for *Chlamydia trachomatis* during pregnancy. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol 1998; 6: 116-22
- Fitzgerald MR, Welch J, Robinson AJ, et al. Clinical guidelines and standards for the management of uncomplicated genital chlamydial infection. Int J STD AIDS 1998; 9: 253-62
- Howell MR, Kassler WJ, Haddix A. Partner notification to prevent pelvic inflammatory disease in women: Cost-effectiveness of two strategies. Sex Transm Dis 1997; 24:287-92
- Ramstedt K, Forssman L, Johannisson G. Contact tracing in the control of genital *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection. Int J STD AIDS 1991; 2: 116-8
- Kissinger P, Brown R, Reed K, et al. The effectiveness of patient delivered partner medication for preventing recurrent Chlamydial trachomatis. Sex Transm Infect 1997; 5: 10-17
- Hueston WJ, Lenhart JG. A decision analysis to guide antibiotic selection for *Chlamydia* infection during pregnancy. Arch Fam Med 1997; 6: 551-5
- Nuovo J, Melnikow J, Paliescheskey M, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of five different antibiotic regimens for the treatment of uncomplicated *Chlamydia trachomatis* cervicitis. J Am Board Fam Pract 1995; 8: 7-16

- Magid D, Douglas JM Jr, Schwartz JS. Doxycycline compared with azithromycin for treating women with genital *Chlamy-dia trachomatis* infections: an incremental cost effectiveness. Ann Intern Med 1996; 124: 359-99
- Haddix AC, Hillis SD, Kassler WJ. The cost effectiveness of azithromycin for *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in women. Sex Transm Dis 1995; 22: 274-80
- Marra F, Marra CA, Patrick DM. Cost effectiveness analysis of azithromycin and doxycycline for *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in women: a Canadian perspective. Can J Infect Dis 1997; 8: 202-8
- Harrison HR, Alexander ER, Weinstein L, et al. Cervical Chlamydia trachomatis and mycoplasmal infections in preg-nancy: epidemiology and outcomes. JAMA 1983; 250: 1721-7
- Sweet RL, Landers DV, Walker C, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection and pregnancy outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987; 156: 824-33
- Rivlin ME, Morrison JC, Grossman JH III. Comparison of pregnancy outcome between treated and untreated women with chlamydial cervicitis. J Miss State Med Assoc 1997; 38 (11): 404-7
- Martin DS, Pastorek JG, Faro S. In vitro and in vivo activity of parenterally administered beta-lactam antibiotics against *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Sex Transm Dis 1986; 13: 81-7

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Joseph M. Miller*, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Louisiana State University Medical Center, 1542 Tulane Avenue, New Orleans, LA 70112, USA.